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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

TACOMA DIVISION 
 
CRAIG SMALLS, individually and on behalf 
of all others similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
TRUEBLUE, INC., a Washington 
corporation; LABOR READY MID-
ATLANTIC, INC., a Washington corporation; 
and FIRST ADVANTAGE BACKGROUND 
SERVICES CORP., a Florida corporation, 
 

Defendants. 
 

No. C15-5126 
 
 

COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION 
 
 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff Craig Smalls brings this case against Defendants TrueBlue, Inc. (“TrueBlue”), 

Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic, Inc. (“Labor Ready”), and First Advantage Background Services 

Corp. (“First Advantage”) to obtain redress for, and put an end to, Defendants’ violations of the 

Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. (“FCRA” or “Act”), specifically their failure 

to provide proper notices, disclosures, and requested documents that they are required to provide 

under the FCRA. Plaintiff alleges upon personal knowledge as to himself and his own acts and 

experiences and, as to all other matters, upon information and belief including investigation 

conducted by his attorneys, as follows. 
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NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. The FCRA, enacted to promote the accuracy, fairness, and privacy of consumer 

information contained in the files of consumer reporting agencies, protects both applicants for 

employment and existing employees from adverse employment action taken as the result of 

potentially inaccurate or immaterial information. To that end, employers who obtain and use 

consumer reports regarding their applicants and employees are required to provide express 

disclosures, copies of the reports obtained, and a summary of rights prior to taking any adverse 

employment action against applicants or employees based on information contained in those 

reports. 

TrueBlue and Labor Ready 

2. TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready willfully violated the FCRA by: (1) failing to 

provide a standalone up-front notice that TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready may procure consumer 

reports about their applicants and employees, and (2) failing to provide proper pre-adverse action 

notices. 

3. TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready fail to provide their applicants or employees with 

standalone notice that TrueBlue and/or LaborReady may obtain a consumer report about them 

for employment purposes. Section 1681b(b)(2) establishes that such notice must be made “in a 

document that consists solely of the disclosure.” TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready provide a 

disclosure that contains unnecessary and extraneous information and fails to stand alone. That is, 

the disclosure and authorization is combined with unrelated and extraneous information, 

including without limitation statements (1) requiring that the applicant or employee acknowledge 

receipt of a summary of FCRA rights and certify that the applicant has read and understands the 

summary of rights and the disclosure, (2) requiring the applicant to agree that a fax, electronic, or 

photographic copy of the authorization is valid as the original, (3) that “If you will be requesting 

driving records, we recommend that you have this form notarized”, (4) regarding only 

Minnesota, Oklahoma, and California applicants (Plaintiff is not a resident of any of these states) 

who check a “YES” box, and (5) that “First Advantage expressly disclaims any warranties or 
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responsibility or damages associated with or arising out of information provided herein.” This 

violates the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i), which unambiguously requires that the 

disclosure must be made “in a document that consists solely of the disclosure.”  

4. TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready also willfully violated the FCRA by failing to 

provide applicants and employees proper pre-adverse action notices. The pre-adverse notices 

sent do not invite applicants and employees to discuss the report directly with TrueBlue/Labor 

Ready and do not state how many days TrueBlue/Labor Ready will wait before taking adverse 

action. This is despite FTC guidance that such procedures are required. As such, Defendants 

violate 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3). 

5. Moreover, TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready willfully violate the FCRA by providing 

eligibility criteria to consumer reporting agencies and accepting as true, without further inquiry, 

the consumer reporting agency’s decision made based on the provided criteria. In other words, 

TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready defer to consumer reporting agencies the responsibility for making 

a determination based on the provided criteria, and then accept that determination without 

question. As a result, adverse action is actually taken at the time the report is completed and the 

eligibility determination is made by the consumer reporting agency before the report is provided 

to the consumer. Thus, TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready fail to timely send a copy of the report and 

a summary of FCRA rights to applicants and employees before taking adverse action. 

First Advantage 

6. First Advantage willfully violated the FCRA by failing to respond (either at all or 

incompletely) to requests made under FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681g. 

7. Specifically, 1681g(a) allows applicants or employees to ask that consumer 

reporting agencies like First Advantage do the following (among other thing): (1) disclose the 

sources of information in their file, (2) provide a clear and accurate disclosure of all information 

in their file, (3) truncate the first five digits of their social security numbers from the documents 

requested, and (4) identify each person (including each end-user identified) that procured a 

consumer report for employment purposes during the 2-year period preceding the date of the 
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request. 

8. First Advantage serially fails to respond to such requests, and its policies and 

procedures are inadequate to ensure compliance with 1681g. 

Relief 

9. As a result of Defendants’ willful violations of the Act, applicants and employees 

such as Plaintiff Smalls and other job seekers are deprived of rights, including privacy rights 

guaranteed to them by federal law, and are thus entitled to statutory damages of at least $100 and 

not more than $1,000 for each violation, and other relief. See, e.g., 15 U.S.C. § 1681n. 

PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff Craig Smalls is a natural person and citizen of the state of North 

Carolina. 

11. Defendant TrueBlue is a Washington corporation with its corporate headquarters 

located at 1015 A Street, Tacoma, WA 98401. 

12. Defendant Labor Ready is a Washington corporation with its corporate 

headquarters located at 1015 A Street, Tacoma, WA 98401. Labor Ready is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of TrueBlue and is billed as “A TrueBlue Company.” 

13. Defendant First Advantage is a Florida corporation with its corporate 

headquarters located at 1 Concourse Pkwy NE #200, Atlanta, GA 30328. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this 

action arises under the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., which is a federal 

statute. 

15. This Court has personal jurisdiction over TrueBlue and Labor Ready because 

these Defendants are headquartered in Washington and they systematically and continuously 

(1) engage in evaluating and hiring employees and applicants in Washington, (2) conduct 

business activities in Washington, and (3) enter into consumer contracts and engage in 

contractual business relationships in Washington. 
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16. This Court has personal jurisdiction over First Advantage because First 

Advantage compiles consumer reports on employees and applicants in this state, conducts 

business activities within this state, and engages in contractual business relationships within this 

state. First Advantage contracted with TrueBlue/Labor Ready—corporations headquartered in 

Washington—to complete a consumer report on Plaintiff. 

17. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) because the injuries of 

which Plaintiff complains arose here. Plaintiff applied for work with TrueBlue/Labor Ready and 

the FCRA disclosure and pre-adverse action notices challenged in this lawsuit were drafted 

and/or emanated from this District. Moreover, First Advantage compiled a consumer report 

about Plaintiff at the request of and for payment from TrueBlue/Labor Ready, which are 

headquartered in this District. Venue is also proper because Defendants transact significant 

business in this District. 

COMMON FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Facts Related to TrueBlue/Labor Ready 

18. TrueBlue is a publicly-traded corporation that is a provider of temporary staffing 

services. The Company provides “blue-collar” staffing services to industries that include 

construction, manufacturing, transportation, aviation, waste, hospitality, retail, and energy. 

19. TrueBlue has a network of 757 branches in all 50 states and Puerto Rico. 

TrueBlue’s service lines include providing blue-collar temporary labor services, serving 

customers who have a need for temporary staff to perform blue-collar tasks which do not require 

a permanent employee, building a temporary workforce through recruiting, screening, and on-

boarding.  

20. Labor Ready is one of TrueBlue’s service lines and serves more than 130,000 

companies each year. Labor Ready serves customers in various industries, including 

construction, waste restoration, manufacturing, and logistics. 

21. Labor Ready was founded in 1989 and since 2007 has been a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of TrueBlue. It has 600 locations in all 50 states. 
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22. In or around October 2014, Plaintiff Smalls applied for work with Labor Ready at 

its Charlotte, North Carolina location. The job that Smalls sought was not one regulated by the 

Department of Transportation. 

23. Shortly after Smalls applied, TrueBlue/Labor Ready procured a consumer report 

about Smalls from the consumer reporting agency First Advantage. Smalls signed a disclosure-

and-authorization form on October 15, 2014 and the report was completed by First Advantage on 

or around October 24, 2014. (See Disclosure and Authorization, attached as Exhibit A.) 

24. The disclosure and authorization form signed by Smalls—which is labeled at the 

top “Labor Ready – a TrueBlue Company”—contains information extraneous to the disclosure 

and authorization itself. It therefore violates the FCRA because it does not stand alone. On 

information and belief, every applicant and employee of TrueBlue and Labor Ready are 

presented with the same unlawful disclosure-and-authorization form. 

25. On October 24, 2014, TrueBlue/Labor Ready sent Smalls a pre-adverse action 

notice along with a copy of the report procured about him and a summary of his FCRA rights. 

(See Pre-Adverse Action Notice, attached as Exhibit B.) 

26. The pre-adverse action notice does not invite applicants and employees to discuss 

their consumer report directly with TrueBlue/Labor Ready. It does not even provide 

TrueBlue/Labor Ready’s contact information. Instead, the notice deflects entirely to First 

Advantage. Thus, TrueBlue/Labor Ready completely disregards its duty to devise policies and 

procedures “that are appropriate, keeping in mind the clear purpose of the [FCRA] provisions to 

allow consumers to discuss the report with employers before adverse action is taken.” (See, e.g., 

FTC Advisory Letters to Lewis, Coffey, and Hawkey, available at 

http://www.ftc.gov/policy/advisory-opinions/.) 

27. As the FTC has made clear, the purpose of the FCRA section at issue is for job 

seekers to have the opportunity to review the consumer report and discuss it with their 

prospective employer before losing out on a job because of information contained in the report. 

The FTC has made clear that in general an employer must wait at least five (5) business days 
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following the notice to the applicant or employee of the anticipated adverse action before 

actually taking the adverse action. (See, e.g., FTC Advisory Opinion to Weisberg, available at 

http://www.ftc.gov/policy/advisory-opinions/advisory-opinion-weisberg-06-27-97.)  

28. TrueBlue makes no mention in its pre-adverse action notices that it will wait at 

least five (5) business days before taking adverse action—in fact it mentions no amount of time 

at all. This is despite the availability of clear FTC guidance and despite the fact that countless 

other companies tell applicants in their pre-adverse action notices that there will be a five day 

period to discuss the report directly with the company before adverse action is taken.  

29. Moreover adverse action is actually taken by TrueBlue/Labor Ready at the time 

that First Advantage (or another consumer reporting agency) completes the consumer report. 

That is, TrueBlue/Labor Ready instructs the consumer reporting agency it hires to procure 

consumer reports with eligibility criteria. The consumer reporting agency then grades the reports 

based on that criteria and deems someone “eligible” or “ineligible” when it completes the report. 

TrueBlue/Labor Ready then, on information and belief, takes that determination at face value 

and does no further investigation. Thus, adverse action is actually taken before any pre-adverse 

action notices, copies of the report, and summary of rights are sent.  

30. On page four of Smalls’ consumer report is a section entitled “Score Result” that 

states “BASED ON YOUR CRITERIA, THE OVERALL CASE SCORE IS INELIGIBLE.” 

This indicates that adverse action was in fact taken on the date of the report (in Smalls’ case, 

October 24, 2014). This means that no pre-adverse action notices, copies of the report, or 

summaries of FCRA rights are timely sent and each person whom TrueBlue has procured a 

consumer report about and subsequently taken adverse action against has had their FCRA rights 

under Section 1681b(b)(3) violated.  

31. Because of the unlawful disclosure provided to applicants and employees 

including Plaintiff, as well as TrueBlue/Labor Ready’s failure to send pre-adverse action notices 

that follow FTC guidance (and its total failure to send pre-adverse notices along with a copy of 

the consumer report and a summary of FCRA rights), TrueBlue/Labor Ready has willfully 

Case 3:15-cv-00293-RJC-DCK   Document 1   Filed 03/02/15   Page 7 of 80



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

COMPLAINT 

No. C15-5126 
- 8 - 

LAW OFFICES OF 
CLIFFORD A. CANTOR, P.C. 

627 208th Ave. SE 
Sammamish, WA 98074-7033 

Tel: (425) 868-7813 ● Fax: (425) 732-3752
 

denied Plaintiff the rights guaranteed to him by the FCRA. Such a denial entitles him to statutory 

damages of not less than $100 and not more than $1,000. 

Facts Related to First Advantage 

32. First Advantage is a consumer reporting agency that bills itself as “the world’s 

leader in background screening.” 

33. First Advantage has compiled one or more consumer reports on Plaintiff Smalls, 

including one for TrueBlue/Labor Ready. 

34. On January 12, 2015, Plaintiff Smalls—through his counsel, Woodrow & Peluso, 

LLC—sent a letter to First Advantage requesting (1) all documents and information sent to First 

Advantage by TrueBlue, Labor Ready, and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic mentioning or 

regarding Craig Smalls or by First Advantage to TrueBlue, Labor Ready, and/or Labor Ready 

Mid-Atlantic mentioning or regarding Mr. Smalls, (2) confirmation that the pre-adverse action 

letter received by Mr. Smalls is a form letter drafted by First Advantage and provided to 

TrueBlue, Labor Ready, and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic, (3) information sufficient to 

determine the number of persons who were sent the same or substantially the same letter sent to 

Mr. Smalls, (4) First Advantage’s contract and/or “service agreement” with TrueBlue, Labor 

Ready, and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic, and (5) a description of TrueBlue, Labor Ready, 

and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic’s role, if any, in the drafting of the letter(s) provided to Mr. 

Smalls. (See January 12, 2015 Letter to First Advantage, attached as Exhibit C.) 

35. The next day, on January 13, 2015, Plaintiff Smalls—through his counsel, 

Woodrow & Peluso, LLC—sent a letter to First Advantage under FCRA section 1681g 

requesting: (1) a disclosure of the sources of information in Mr. Smalls’ file, (2) a clear and 

accurate disclosure of all information in Mr. Smalls’ file at the time of the request, (3) a request 

that the first five digits of Smalls’ social security number be truncated from all documents 

produced pursuant to the 1681g request, (4) identification of each person (including each end-

user identified) that procured a consumer report for employment purposes during the 2-year 

period preceding the date of the request, or for any other purpose during the 1-year period 
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preceding the date of the request, (5) that the requested identifications should include the name 

of the person, or if applicable, the trade name (written in full) under which such persons conduct 

business, and (6) that the identifications include the address and telephone number of all such 

person identified. Mr. Smalls requested that all information requested be provided by January 29, 

2015. (See January 13, 2015 FCRA 1681g Request, attached as Exhibit D.) 

36. On January 20, 2015, Plaintiff’s counsel received a phone call and follow-up 

email from an attorney who indicated he represented First Advantage. His email stated: 
 
As a follow-up to our telephone conversation, First Advantage will provide you 
with a copy of Mr. Smalls’ file upon receipt of written notice from Mr. Smalls in 
which he authorizes our client to disclose his file to you. You may send the 
authorization to me. 

(See January 20, 2015 email from First Advantage’s counsel, attached as Exhibit E.) 

37. On January 22, 2015, Plaintiff’s counsel received an email from First 

Advantage’s Consumer Disclosure Team that stated: 
 
We have received your Request for Copy of Consumer Report however, request 
form was not completed. If you would please complete the request form in its 
entirety. You can either mail these documents to us or fax them to the following 
fax number: 888-985-2544. You may also scan and email them to 
Consumer.documents@fadv.com. I have attached a copy of the form. Thank you 
for your cooperation. 

(See First Advantage Email of January 22, 2015 and Form, attached as Group Exhibit F.) 

38. The form that First Advantage sent to Plaintiff Smalls in response to his 1681g 

request does not cover Plaintiff’s requests. Smalls was presented with two boxes to choose: (1) a 

box requesting his entire file and (2) a box requesting a copy of any report sent to any end-user 

for the past 60 days. (See First Advantage Form, Ex. F-2.) The form contained no space for 

Smalls to request that the first five digits of his social security number be truncated or space to 

request the other information he is entitled to under FCRA section 1681g. On information and 

belief, First Advantage does not have a policy or procedure specifically related to 1681g and 
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lacks formal controls to ensure that it properly responds to 1681g requests.  

39. Nevertheless, Plaintiff and his counsel began to compile the documents requested 

both by First Advantage’s counsel and by First Advantage’s Consumer Disclosure Team. On 

January 26, 2015, Plaintiff sent First Advantage’s counsel (1) a signed authorization from Mr. 

Smalls to disclose his file to Woodrow & Peluso, LLC, (2) a scanned copy of Mr. Smalls’ 

driver’s license as requested in the Form sent by the Consumer Disclosure Team, (3) a copy of 

the email from the Consumer Disclosure Team dated January 22, 2015, (4) the completed Form 

sent by the Consumer Disclosure Team, and (5) a copy of the FCRA section 1681g request letter 

dated January 13, 2015. (See Documents sent to First Advantage’s counsel on January 26, 2015, 

attached as Exhibit G.)  

40. As requested by First Advantage’s counsel that the authorization form could be 

sent directly to him, Plaintiff Smalls sent the materials to First Advantage’s counsel. 

41. As of the filing of this Complaint, First Advantage—despite the fact that Plaintiff 

complied with every one of its requests—has not provided any further response (either through 

counsel or otherwise) and no documents have been provided as requested.  

42. Thus, First Advantage has violated Plaintiff’s FCRA rights under section 1681g 

by not providing the requested information and documents he is entitled to under the statute.  

43. Because of its failure to provide the information and documents requested under 

FCRA section 1681g (and because of its apparently failure to implement policies and procedures 

to ensure it properly responds to 1681g requests), First Advantage has willfully denied Plaintiff 

the rights guaranteed to him by the FCRA. Such a denial entitles him to statutory damages of not 

less than $100 and not more than $1,000. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

44. Plaintiff bring this action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2) 

and 23(b)(3) on behalf of himself and three Classes and a Subclass defined as follows: 
 
Disclosure Class: All persons in the United States from March 2, 2013 to the 
present (1) who applied for employment TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready; (2) about 
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whom TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready procured a consumer report; and (3) who 
were provided substantially the same disclosure and authorization regarding the 
possibility that a consumer report may be procured about them that was provided 
to Plaintiff.  
 
Pre-Adverse Action Notice Class: All persons in the United States who (1) were 
subject to adverse employment action on or after March 2, 2013 based in whole or 
in part on any consumer report procured by TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready; and 
(2) who did not receive a pre-adverse action notice advising them to discuss their 
consumer report directly with TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready and/or that did not 
state that TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready would wait five (5) business days before 
taking adverse action.  
 
Adverse Action SubClass: All persons in the United States who (1) were subject 
to adverse employment action on or after March 2, 2013 based in whole or in part 
on any consumer report procured by TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready; and (2) who 
did not receive a copy of the report and a summary of FCRA rights before 
TrueBlue and/or Labor Ready took adverse action by accepting the eligibility 
determination made by First Advantage or another consumer reporting agency 
without any further inquiry.  
 
1681g Class: All individuals in the United States (1) who made a request to First 
Advantage for information and documents they were entitled to under FCRA 
section 1681g(a); and (2) who did not receive all of the information and 
documents requested. 

45. Excluded from the Classes and Subclass are (1) Defendants, Defendants’ agents, 

subsidiaries, parents, successors, predecessors, and any entity in which the Defendants or their 

parents have a controlling interest and their current and former employees, officers, and 

directors, (2) the Judge or Magistrate Judge to whom this case is assigned and the Judge’s or 

Magistrate Judge’s immediate family, (3) the legal representatives, successors, or assigns of any 

such excluded person; and (4) Plaintiff’s counsel and Defendants’ counsel. 

46. Numerosity: The exact number of the members of the Classes and Subclass is 

unknown to Plaintiff at this time, but it is apparent based on uniform practices and form 

documents at issue and Defendants’ size and nationwide business that individual joinder is 
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impracticable. TrueBlue/Labor Ready has hundreds or perhaps thousands of employees and a 

potentially even greater number of job applicants, located throughout the United States. 

Moreover, First Advantage is a large consumer reporting agency that receives perhaps hundreds 

of requests for information and documents pursuant to FCRA 1681g. The Class and Subclass 

members should be readily ascertainable through Defendants’ records. 

47. Commonality: Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the 

Classes and Subclass for which this proceeding will provide common answers in a single stroke 

based upon common evidence, including: 

(a)  Whether Defendants’ conduct described herein violated the FCRA; 

(b) Whether TrueBlue/Labor Ready’s disclosure that it will procure consumer reports 

violates the FCRA’s requirement that the pre-report disclosure stand alone;  

(c) Whether TrueBlue/Labor Ready has failed to provide a pre-adverse action notice, 

copy of the consumer report, and a summary of FCRA rights to applicants and 

employees prior to taking adverse action and, if so, whether such policies and 

procedures violate the FCRA; 

(d) Whether TrueBlue/Labor Ready has violated the FCRA by failing to include in its 

pre-adverse action notices an invitation to discuss consumer reports directly with 

it and by failing to state how long it will wait before taking adverse action; 

(e)  Whether TrueBlue/Labor Ready has acted willfully in these respects; 

(f) Whether First Advantage has failed to comply with § 1681g(a) requests; 

(g)  Whether First Advantage has adopted policies or procedures to ensure compliance 

with § 1681g(a) requests; 

(h) Whether First Advantage has acted willfully in these respects; and  

(i) The proper measure of statutory damages and the availability and appropriateness 

of declaratory and injunctive relief. 

48. Typicality: As a result of Defendants’ uniform disclosures, notices, procedures, 

and conduct, Plaintiff and the Class and Subclass members suffered the same injury and similar 
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damages. Thus, Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the other Class members. 

49. Adequate Representation: Plaintiff is a member of the Classes and Subclass and 

both he and his counsel will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the Class, 

as neither has interests adverse to those of the Class or Subclass members and Defendants have 

no defenses unique to Plaintiff. In addition, Plaintiff has retained counsel competent and 

experienced in complex litigation and class actions. Further, Plaintiff and his counsel are 

committed to vigorously prosecuting this action on behalf of the members of the Classes and 

Subclass, and they have the financial resources to do so. 

50. Injunctive and Declaratory Relief: In using uniform disclosures that violate the 

FCRA and by uniformly failing to provide proper pre-adverse action notices as required, 

TrueBlue/Labor Ready has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Classes 

and Subclass as respective wholes so as to render injunctive and declaratory relief appropriate. 

Likewise, First Advantage has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the 

1681g Class so as to render injunctive and declaratory relief appropriate. Defendants’ uniform 

conduct requires the Court’s imposition of uniform relief to ensure compatible standards of 

conduct toward the Classes and Subclass members, thus making final injunctive and/or 

declaratory relief appropriate with respect to the Classes and Subclass as a whole. Further, 

because Defendants’ uniform practices result in similar, if not identical, injuries for all Class and 

Subclass members, Plaintiff’s challenge of those practices hinges on Defendants’ conduct with 

respect to the Classes and Subclass, not on facts or law applicable only to Plaintiff. 

51. Predominance: The common questions of law and fact set forth above go to the 

very heart of the controversy and predominate over any supposed individualized questions. 

Irrespective of any given Class or Subclass member’s situation, the answer to whether 

Defendants’ conduct is unlawful is the same for everyone—“yes”—and they will be proven 

using common evidence. 

52. Superiority and Manageability: A class action is superior to all other methods 

of adjudicating the controversy. Joinder of all members of the classes and subclass is impractical, 
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and the damages suffered by/available to the individual Class and Subclass members will likely 

be small relative to the cost associated with prosecuting an action. Thus, the expense of litigating 

an individual action will likely prohibit the Class and Subclass members from obtaining effective 

relief for Defendants’ misconduct. In addition, there are numerous common factual and legal 

questions that could result in inconsistent verdicts should there be several successive trials. In 

contract, a class action will present far fewer management difficulties, as it will increase 

efficiency and decrease expense. Further, class-wide adjudication will also ensure a uniform 

decision for the Class and Subclass members. 

53. Plaintiff reserves the right to revise the definition of the Class as necessary based 

upon information learned in discovery.  

COUNT I 

Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i) 

(on behalf of Plaintiff and the Disclosure Class 

against Defendants TrueBlue and Labor Ready) 

54. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth 

herein. 

55. The FCRA declares that: 
 
Except as provided in subparagraph (B), a person may not procure a consumer 
report, or cause a consumer report to be procured, for employment purposes with 
respect to any consumer, unless—  
 

(i) a clear and conspicuous disclosure has been made in writing  to the 
consumer at any time before the report is procured or caused to be 
procured, in a document that consists solely of the disclosure, that a 
consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes . . . 

 
15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A) (emphasis added). 

56. The FCRA defines a consumer report as: 
 
. . . any written, oral, or other communication of any information by a consumer 
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reporting agency bearing on a consumers’ credit worthiness, credit standing, 
credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of 
living which is used or excepted to be used or collected in whole or in part for the 
purpose of serving as a factor establishing the consumer’s eligibility for . . . 
 
(B) employment purposes . . .  

15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1). 

57. The Disclosure and Authorization that TrueBlue/Labor Ready provided to 

Plaintiff and the putative Disclosure Class members as part of the application process willfully 

violates the FCRA by including extraneous information such that the disclosure cannot be said to 

“stand alone.” The Disclosure and Authorization requires the applicant to authorize his or her 

understanding of several matters that are extraneous to any authorization related to the 

procurement of a consumer report and therefore the disclosure does not standalone or consist 

solely of the disclosure that Defendants may obtain a consumer report and accompanying 

authorization. For example, the disclosure requires that the applicant or employee: 

a. Acknowledge receipt of a summary of FCRA rights and certify that he or she has 

read and understands the summary of rights and the disclosure;  

b. Agree that a fax, electronic, or photographic copy of the authorization shall be 

valid as the original; 

c. Consider the advice that “If you will be requesting driving records, we 

recommend that you have this form notarized”; 

d. Be presented with a notice to employers, apparently from First Advantage, 

regarding Minnesota, Oklahoma, and California applicants who check a “YES” 

box.  

e. Review a confusing statement that “Nothing contained herein should be construed 

as legal advice or guidance. Employers should consult their own counsel about 

their compliance responsibility under the FCRA and applicable state law. First 
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Advantage expressly disclaims any warranties or responsibility or damages 

associated with or arising out of information provided herein”; and 

f. Other extraneous information. 

58. TrueBlue/Labor Ready procured consumer reports with respect to Plaintiff and 

the Disclosure Class Members. The Disclosure and Authorization uniformly violated each of 

their rights in the same way by including such extraneous information. 

59. Defendants’ violations are willful for at least the following reasons: 

(i) The rule that FRCA disclosures be “clear and conspicuous” and part of a 

document consisting “solely” of that disclosure has been the law established for well over 

a decade. 

(ii) Defendants are large corporations with in-house counsel who regularly 

engage outside counsel and had ample means and opportunity to seek legal advice 

regarding their FCRA responsibilities. As such, any violations were made in conscious 

disregard of the rights of others; 

(iii) Clear judicial and administrative guidance—dating back to at least the 

1990s—regarding a corporation’s FCRA responsibilities exists and is readily available 

explaining that such disclosures must stand-alone. This readily available guidance means 

Defendants were either aware of their responsibilities or plainly should have been aware 

of their responsibilities but ignored them and violated the FCRA anyway. 

60. Plaintiff and the Disclosure Class are entitled to statutory damages of not less than 

$100 and not more than $1,000 for each of Defendants’ willful violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681n(a)(1)(A). 

61. Plaintiff and the Disclosure Class seek statutory damages, reasonable costs and 

attorneys’ fees, an injunction against further violations, and a declaration that this conduct of 

Defendants TrueBlue and Labor Ready is unlawful. 
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COUNT II 

Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b et seq. 

(on behalf of Plaintiff and the Pre-Adverse Action Notice Class 

against Defendants TrueBlue and Labor Ready) 

62. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth 

herein. 

63. TrueBlue’s pre-adverse action notice does not invite applicants/employees to 

explain negative items in their reports directly with TrueBlue. Instead, the pre-adverse action 

notice provides only First Advantage’s contact information and does not give any indication that 

the applicant may discuss the report with TrueBlue directly. 

64. As the FTC has made clear, however, employers are to devise policies “that are 

appropriate, keeping in mind the clear purpose of the provisions to allow consumers to discuss 

the report with employers before adverse action is taken.” See FTC advisory letters, to Coffey, 

Lewis, and Hawkey (available at http://www.ftc.gov/policy/advisory-opinions/). By directing 

applicants and employees only to First Advantage, applicants and employees are denied the 

ability to explain negative items to TrueBlue before adverse action is taken. 

65. Moreover, as the FTC has made clear, the purpose of the FCRA section at issue is 

for job seekers to have the opportunity to review the consumer report and discuss it with their 

prospective employer before losing out on a job because of information contained in the report. 

The FTC has made clear that in general an employer must wait at least five (5) business days 

following the notice to the applicant or employee of the anticipated adverse action before 

actually taking the adverse action.. (See, e.g., FTC Advisory Opinion to Weisberg, available at 

http://www.ftc.gov/policy/advisory-opinions/advisory-opinion-weisberg-06-27-97.)  

66. TrueBlue/Labor Ready has also violated the FCRA by failing to notify applicants 

and employees of the amount of time it will wait before taking adverse action.  

67. TrueBlue/Labor Ready’s violations are willful for at least the following reasons: 
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(i) The rule that employers are to devise policies “that are appropriate, 

keeping in mind the clear purpose of the provisions to allow consumers to discuss the 

report with employers before adverse action is taken” has been established and articulated 

on numerous occasions by the FTC since at least the 1990s; and 

(ii) TrueBlue/Labor Ready are large corporations with in-house counsel who 

regularly engage outside counsel and had ample means and opportunity to seek legal 

advice regarding their FCRA responsibilities. As such, any violations were made in 

conscious disregard of the rights of others. 

68. Plaintiff and the Pre-Adverse Action Notice Class are entitled to statutory 

damages of not less than $100 and not more than $1,000 for each of Defendants’ willful 

violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(1)(A). 

69. Plaintiff and the Pre-Adverse Action Notice Class seek statutory damages, 

reasonable cost and attorneys’ fees, an injunction against further violations, and a declaration 

that this conduct of Defendants TrueBlue and Labor Ready is unlawful. 

COUNT III 

Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) 

(on behalf of Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Subclass 

against Defendants TrueBlue and Labor Ready) 

70. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth 

herein. 

71. The FCRA provides that: 
 
(3) Conditions on use for adverse actions. 
 

(A) In General. Except as provided in subparagraph (b), in using a consumer 
report for employment purposes, before taking any adverse action based in whole 
or in part on the report, the person intending to take such adverse action shall 
provide to the consumer to whom the report relates— 
 

(i) a copy of the report; and  
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(ii)  a description in writing of the rights of the consumer under this 
subchapter, as prescribed by the Bureau under section 1681g(c)(3) of this 
title. 

 
See 15 U.S.C. 1681b(b)(3) (Emphasis added). 

72. The FCRA defines adverse action as “a denial of employment or any other 

decision for employment purposes that adversely affects any current or prospective employee.” 

15 U.S.C. § 1681a(k)(1)(B)(ii). 

73. TrueBlue/Labor Ready violated § 1681b(b)(3) of the FCRA by failing to provide 

Plaintiff and members of the Adverse Action Subclass with a copy of their consumer reports 

and/or summaries of their rights under the FCRA before taking adverse employment actions 

against them.  

74. Instead, TrueBlue/Labor Ready took adverse against them the moment the 

consumer reporting agency made an eligibility determination based on factors provided to it by 

TrueBlue/Labor Ready. 

75. When TrueBlue/Labor Ready procures a consumer report about a job applicant or 

employee, it tells the consumer reporting agency it hires what types of information on a 

consumer report would make an applicant ineligible for hire.  

76. The consumer reporting agency then takes that information and makes an 

eligibility score at the time it completes the report. TrueBlue/Labor Ready then accepts the third 

party’s determination at face value and makes no further inquiry into the applicants’ eligibility to 

be hired. Thus, applicants like Plaintiff Smalls—who was received a score on his consumer 

report of “INELIGIBLE”—have adverse action taken against them at the time the report is 

completed by the consumer reporting agency and sent to TrueBlue/Labor Ready.  

77. As a result, any applicants and employees who TrueBlue/Labor Ready took the 

eligibility determination from the consumer reporting agency at face value and make no further 

inquiry into the matter had their FCRA rights violated because any attempt by TrueBlue/Labor 

Ready to the send pre-adverse action documents required (a copy of the report and a summary of 
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rights) was untimely (being sent after the determination had already been made).  

78. TrueBlue/Labor Ready’s violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) were willful. The 

rule that a copy of the report relied upon and a summary of FCRA rights must be sent to a person 

against whom an employer intends to take adverse action before such adverse action is taken is 

well established. TrueBlue/Labor Ready is a large corporation that regularly engages counsel—it 

had ample means and opportunity to seek legal advice regarding their FCRA responsibilities. 

Further, there is a glut of judicial and administrative guidance—dating back to the 1990’s—

regarding a corporation’s FCRA responsibilities. This readily-available guidance means 

TrueBlue/Labor Ready either was aware of its responsibilities or should have been aware of its 

responsibilities, but violated the FCRA anyway. 

79. Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Subclass are entitled to statutory damages of not 

less than $100 and not more than $1,000 for each of Defendants’ willful violations pursuant to 

15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(1)(A). 

80. Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Subclass seek statutory damages, reasonable cost 

and attorneys’ fees, an injunction against further violations, and a declaration that this conduct of 

Defendants TrueBlue and Labor Ready is unlawful. 

COUNT IV 

Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a) 

(on behalf of Plaintiff and the 1681g Class 

against Defendant First Advantage) 

81. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth 

herein. 

82. The FCRA, section 1681g(a), provides that: 

Every consumer reporting agency shall, upon request, and subject to section 1681h(a)(1) 
of this title, clearly and accurately disclose to the consumer: 

(1) All information in the consumer’s file at the time of the request, except 
that— 
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(A) if the consumer to whom the file relates that the first 5 digits of 
the social security number (or similar identification number) of the 
consumer not be included in the disclosure and the consumer 
reporting agency has received appropriate proof of the identity of 
the requester, the consumer reporting agency shall so truncate such 
number in such disclosure; and  

(B) nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to require a 
consumer reporting agency to disclose to a consumer any 
information concerning credit scores or any other risk scores or 
predictors relating to the consumer.  

(2) The sources of the information; except that the sources of information 
acquired solely for use in preparing an investigative consumer report and 
actually used for no other purpose need not be disclosed: Provided, That in 
the event an action is brought under this subchapter, such sources shall be 
available to the plaintiff under appropriate discovery procedures in the 
court in which the action is brought.  

(3)  

(A) Identification of each person (including each end-user 
identified under section 1681e(e)(1) of this title) that procured a 
consumer report—  

(i) for employment purposes, during the 2-year period 
preceding the date on which the request is made; or  

(ii) for any other purpose, during the 1-year period 
preceding the date on which the request is made.  

(B) An identification of a person under subparagraph (A) shall 
include—  

(i) the name of the person or, if applicable, the trade name 
(written in full) under which such person conducts 
business; and  

(ii) upon request of the consumer, the address and 
telephone number of the person.  
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83. Plaintiff Smalls made a request for information he is entitled to under section 

1681g. He also included a request that the first five digits of his social security number be 

truncated.  

84. Despite complying with all of First Advantage’s requests pertaining to the 1681g 

request, Smalls has not received the information. First Advantage has thus violated the FCRA. 

85. Moreover, First Advantage does not have policies or procedures in place to 

properly handle FCRA 1681g requests. First Advantage sent Smalls a form in response to his 

1681g request that lacks a mechanisms for Smalls to actually request the information he is 

entitled to under 1681g. 

86. On information and belief, First Advantage does not provide all information 

requested and owed to any consumer who makes a 1681g request.  

87. First Advantage’s violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a) were willful. This rule has 

been established for decades. First Advantage is a large corporation that regularly engages 

counsel—it had ample means and opportunity to seek legal advice regarding their FCRA 

responsibilities. Further, First Advantage is a consumer reporting agency and thus has a 

peculiarly-strong responsibility to become intimately-familiar with requests that consumers can 

make of it under the FCRA. 

88. Plaintiff and the 1681g Class are entitled to statutory damages of not less than 

$100 and not more than $1,000 for each of Defendants’ willful violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681n(a)(1)(A). 

89. Plaintiff and the 1681g Class seek statutory damages, reasonable cost and 

attorneys’ fees, an injunction against further violations, and a declaration that this conduct of 

Defendant First Advantage is unlawful. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs request a trial by jury of all claims that can be so tried. 
 
Dated: March 2, 2015 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 
s/    Cliff Cantor  
By: Cliff Cantor, WSBA # 17893 
Law Offices of Clifford A. Cantor, P.C. 
627 208th Ave. SE 
Sammamish, WA 98074 
Tel: (425) 868-7813 
Fax:  (425) 732-3752 
Email: cliff.cantor@outlook.com 
 
Steven L. Woodrow* 
Patrick H. Peluso* 
Woodrow & Peluso, LLC 
3900 East Mexico Ave., Suite 300  
Denver, Colorado 80210 
Tel:  (720) 213-0675 
Fax:  (303) 927-0809 
Email: swoodrow@woodrowpeluso.com 

ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Craig Smalls  
and the Classes and Subclass 
 
*Pro hac vice application to be filed 
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3900 East Mexico Avenue #300 Denver, CO 80210, T (720) 213.0675 

 

     January 12, 2015 

 

Via U.S. mail and electronic mail to: 

 

First Advantage Corporation 

Attn: Bret Jardine, Executive Vice President, General Counsel 

1 Concourse Parkway Northeast 

Atlanta, Georgia 30328 

bjardine@fadv.com  

 

 

 Re: Craig Smalls – Background Check for Labor Ready 
   

Dear Counsel: 

 

 Our law firm represents Mr. Craig Smalls, who applied for employment for a position 

with Labor Ready in Charlotte, North Carolina. Mr. Smalls had a background check procured 

about him that, according to some paperwork our client has received, was prepared by First 

Advantage on October 24, 2014. That same day, a letter was sent to Mr. Smalls and signed 

by “Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic 1298.” (See October 24, 2014 Letter, attached as Exhibit A.) 

We believe this is a form letter drafted by First Advantage and provided to or sent on behalf 

of Labor Ready and/or its parent company, TrueBlue, for purported use as a pre-adverse 

action letter. 

 

In part, the letter advised Mr. Smalls of his right to obtain a disclosure of his file from 

First Advantage within 60 days and of his right to dispute the accuracy or completeness of 

the report directly with First Advantage. However, the letter is silent with respect to (1) any 

right that Smalls had to discuss and/or dispute information contained in the report directly 

with Labor Ready, (2) how to contact Labor Ready to discuss and/or dispute the report, and 

(3) the amount of time Labor Ready would wait before taking adverse action.  

 

The FTC has repeatedly admonished that employers should maintain procedures that 

allow for job applicants to explain negative information contained within a background check  

“that are appropriate, keeping in mind the purpose of the provisions to allow consumers to 

discuss the report with employers before adverse action is taken.” (See, e.g., FTC Advisory 

Letters to Lewis, Coffey, and Hawkey, available at http://www.ftc.gov/policy/advisory-

opinions/). In derogation of this rule—and in marked contrast to form pre-adverse action 

letters used by other background check service providers in the industry—the pre-adverse 

action letter provided to our client is silent with respect to any right that Mr. Smalls had to 

explain the derogatory items directly to Labor Ready. Rather, the letter that First Advantage 

appears to have prepared for Labor Ready makes no mention of any ability to contact Labor 

Ready about the background check and instead indicates only that Smalls had sixty (60) days 

to dispute any information directly with First Advantage. 
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3900 East Mexico Avenue #300 Denver, CO 80210, T (720) 213.0675 

 

 Within fourteen (14) days from the date of this letter, please provide: 

 

 All documents and information sent to First Advantage by TrueBlue, Labor Ready, 

and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic mentioning or regarding Craig Smalls or by First 

Advantage to True Blue, Labor Ready, and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic mentioning 

or regarding Mr. Smalls; 

 

 Confirmation that the letter received by Mr. Smalls is a form letter drafted by First 

Advantage and provided to TrueBlue, Labor Ready, and/or Labor Ready Mid-

Atlantic; 

 

 Information sufficient to determine the number of persons who were sent the same or 

substantially the same letter sent to Mr. Smalls; 

 

 First Advantage’s contract and/or “service agreement” with TrueBlue, Labor Ready, 

and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic; and 

 

• A Description of TrueBlue, Labor Ready, and/or Labor Ready Mid-Atlantic’s role, if 

 any, in the drafting of the letter(s) provided to Mr. Smalls. 

  

 For the sake of transparency, our goal is to determine whether the omission of a 

statement directing Smalls to contact Labor Ready or TrueBlue directly is a one-off or if this 

required information is absent from all of the letters First Advantage prepares for Labor 

Ready/TrueBlue. If such a statement is omitted more generally, then we invite First 

Advantage to engage us in a discussion on how such letters may be corrected.  

 

Please respond by January 26, 2015. I’m available to discuss this further at the 

contact information below.  

 

      Best regards, 

      /s/ Steven L. Woodrow  

      Steven L. Woodrow   

      swoodrow@woodrowpeluso.com 

      720.213.0675 
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3900 East Mexico Avenue #300 Denver, CO 80210, T (720) 213.0675 

 

     January 13, 2015 

 

Via U.S. mail to: 

 

First Advantage, Consumer Disclosure Center 

PO Box 105292 

Atlanta, GA 30348 

 

 

 Re: Craig Smalls – FCRA § 1681g Disclosure Request 
 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

 Our law firm represents Mr. Craig Smalls, who First Advantage has prepared one or 

more consumer reports about for employment purposes and perhaps other purposes. Mr. 

Smalls’ latest address in First Advantage’s file appears to be 7111 Village Green Drive, 

Apartment E, Charlotte, NC 28215. His date of birth is and the first three digits 

of his social security number is .  

 

 In accordance with § 1681g(a) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), Please 

disclose the sources of the information in Mr. Smalls’ file. Sources of information acquired 

solely for use in preparing an investigative consumer report and actually used for no other 

purpose need not be disclosed. Please also clearly and accurately disclose all information in 

Mr. Smalls’ file at the time of this request. Mr. Smalls hereby requests that the first five 

digits of his social security number not be included in the disclosure, so please truncate such 

number in the requested disclosure. Please also identify each person (including each end-user 

identified) that procured a consumer report for employment purposes during the 2-year 

period preceding the date on which this request is made or for any other purpose, during the 

1-year period preceding the date on which this request is made. The requested identifications 

should include the name of the person or, if applicable, the trade name (written in full) under 

which such persons conduct business. Mr. Smalls hereby requests that the identifications 

include the address and telephone number of all such person identified.  

 

Please respond by January 29, 2015 and send all requests to my attention at the 

address below.  

      Best regards, 

      /s/ Patrick H. Peluso  

      Patrick H. Peluso   

      ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com 
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attachments) is not intended to be used, and cannot be used, for purposes of (i) avoiding penalties imposed under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code or (ii)

promoting, marketing or recommending to another person any tax-related matter.

---------------------------------

Steven:

As a follow-up to our telephone conversation, First Advantage will provide you with a copy of Mr. Smalls’

file upon receipt of written notice from Mr. Smalls in which he authorizes our client to disclose his file to

you.  You may send the authorization to me.

Please let me know if you have any questions.

Fritz

Frederick “Fritz” T. Smith

SEYFARTH SHAW LLP

1075 Peachtree Street, N.E.

Suite 2500

Atlanta, Georgia 30309-3962

6000 Fairview Road

Suite 1200

Charlotte, North Carolina 28210

Direct Dial: (404) 888-1021

Facsimile: (404) 892-7056

Woodrow & Peluso, LLC Mail - Craig Smalls - First Advantage https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=e639524f62&view=pt&q=fr...

2 of 3 3/2/2015 3:09 PM
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EXHIBIT F-1
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Patrick Peluso <ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com>

First Advantage Consumer Report

Consumer Documents <Consumer.Documents@fadv.com> Thu, Jan 22, 2015 at 2:13 PM

To: "ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com" <ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com>

January 22, 2015

RE:  Copy of Consumer Report

Dear Patrick Peluso,

We received your Request for Copy of Consumer Report however, request form was not completed. If you
would please complete the request form in its entirety. You can either mail these documents to us or fax them to
the following fax number: 888-985-2544.  You may also scan and email them to
Consumer.documents@fadv.com. I have attached a copy of the form. Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Consumer Disclosure Team

Disclosure Team

Woodrow & Peluso, LLC Mail - First Advantage Consumer Report https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=e639524f62&view=pt&q=c...

1 of 2 3/2/2015 3:17 PM
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Fax 888.985.2544

Consumer.documents@fadv.com

Full Consumer Report Request Packet.pdf
904K

Woodrow & Peluso, LLC Mail - First Advantage Consumer Report https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=e639524f62&view=pt&q=c...

2 of 2 3/2/2015 3:17 PM
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Patrick Peluso <ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com>

First Advantage Consumer Report
1 message

Consumer Documents <Consumer.Documents@fadv.com> Thu, Jan 22, 2015 at 2:13 PM

To: "ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com" <ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com>

January 22, 2015

RE:  Copy of Consumer Report

Dear Patrick Peluso,

We received your Request for Copy of Consumer Report however, request form was not completed. If you
would please complete the request form in its entirety. You can either mail these documents to us or fax them to
the following fax number: 888-985-2544.  You may also scan and email them to
Consumer.documents@fadv.com. I have attached a copy of the form. Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Consumer Disclosure Team

Disclosure Team

Woodrow & Peluso, LLC Mail - First Advantage Consumer Report https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ui=2&ik=e639524f62&view=pt&q=fir...

1 of 2 1/26/2015 9:45 AM
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Fax 888.985.2544

Consumer.documents@fadv.com

Full Consumer Report Request Packet.pdf
904K

Woodrow & Peluso, LLC Mail - First Advantage Consumer Report https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ui=2&ik=e639524f62&view=pt&q=fir...

2 of 2 1/26/2015 9:45 AM
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3900 East Mexico Avenue #300 Denver, CO 80210, T (720) 213.0675 

 

     January 13, 2015 

 

Via U.S. mail to: 

 

First Advantage, Consumer Disclosure Center 

PO Box 105292 

Atlanta, GA 30348 

 

 

 Re: Craig Smalls – FCRA § 1681g Disclosure Request 
 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

 Our law firm represents Mr. Craig Smalls, who First Advantage has prepared one or 

more consumer reports about for employment purposes and perhaps other purposes. Mr. 

Smalls’ latest address in First Advantage’s file appears to be 7111 Village Green Drive, 

Apartment E, Charlotte, NC 28 His date of birth is nd the first three digits 

of his social security number is  

 

 In accordance with § 1681g(a) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), Please 

disclose the sources of the information in Mr. Smalls’ file. Sources of information acquired 

solely for use in preparing an investigative consumer report and actually used for no other 

purpose need not be disclosed. Please also clearly and accurately disclose all information in 

Mr. Smalls’ file at the time of this request. Mr. Smalls hereby requests that the first five 

digits of his social security number not be included in the disclosure, so please truncate such 

number in the requested disclosure. Please also identify each person (including each end-user 

identified) that procured a consumer report for employment purposes during the 2-year 

period preceding the date on which this request is made or for any other purpose, during the 

1-year period preceding the date on which this request is made. The requested identifications 

should include the name of the person or, if applicable, the trade name (written in full) under 

which such persons conduct business. Mr. Smalls hereby requests that the identifications 

include the address and telephone number of all such person identified.  

 

Please respond by January 29, 2015 and send all requests to my attention at the 

address below.  

      Best regards, 

      /s/ Patrick H. Peluso  

      Patrick H. Peluso   

      ppeluso@woodrowpeluso.com 
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